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Excavation Plan 1954-57 of the Clarendon Hotel showing the foundation grid and 
squares excavated and di�erentiating Late Saxon and 12th century features

In 1939 the Clarendon Hotel, now the site of the Clarendon Centre, was bought by 
Woolworth & Co and it was demolished in 1954 to make way for their new store. 

During this development an archaeological study by W. A. Pantin and E. M. Jope took 
place on the site 1954-57. The archaeologists had to work around the logistical 

requirements of the developer with the new building being constructed on a grid of 4.5 
metre square stanchion holes - see excavation plan below showing the foundation grid 

and squares excavated. These rectangular windows into the Saxon town managed to 
recover considerable information about the character of Late Saxon settlement on the 

west side of Cornmarket Street that was a venue for the weekly medieval street market. 

During the excavations, it was discovered a wine cellar dated back to the twelfth century, 
and the ‘complete framework of a sixteenth century timber framed house’ was behind 

the fascia, among other architectural discoveries. The day-to-day detritus of Late Saxon 
urban life: the bones of piges,sheep, oxen, geese, cats and dogs; the remains of cooking 

pots, iron buckles and knives; and traces of weaving activity in the form of loom weights, 
bonecombs, spindle whorls and bone thread pickers. The latter provided evidence for 
the use of vertical looms that were commonly used by local weavers until they were 

replaced by the horizontal loom in the thirteenth century. Other �nds pointed to 
industrial working behind the street frontage; for example, fragments of small crucibles 
caked in red-tinged slag that may have been used for bronze working and a mound of 

oolitic limestone used for casting silver ingots.

The dig revealed �nds relating to the trades of drapery and cordwainery (shoemaking). 

 

Drapery Lane (1349), a private lane running west from 
Cornmarket, no longer exists.
Shoe Lane (by 1628): Sewy's Lane (c. 1225 to mid 17th century)
Cornmarket Street (by 1751): North Street (1399); Northgate 
Street (1379); 
Cornmarket (east side) and Northgate Street (west side) (1772).
Frewin Court (by 1876): Bodin's Lane (1405); Bridewell Lane 
(later 16th century). 

Map of Medieval Oxford (Modi�ed after Salter 1934)

The archaeological excavations of 1954-57 recovered the basic layout of the Saxon street 
frontage. Investigations such as that undertaken at the Clarendon Hotel suggests that 
the underlying framework of present-day tenement plots, at least in the central part of 

town, was probably �rst laid out in the late tenth to early eleventh century.

The frontages of the main streets meeting at Carfax were occupied by narrow shops, 
often leased separately from solars and cellars above and below them and houses 

behind. There were many narrow shops on the west side of Cornmarket between Shoe 
Lane and Bodin’s Lane. On the west side of Cornmarket, just north of Carfax, lay the 
drapery, �rst recorded c. 1220; in 1349 the Cornmarket frontage was called the old 

drapery, and there were shops in a new drapery in Drapery Lane, which ran west from 
Cornmarket and turned north into Shoe Lane. 

The twice-weekly market was held in High Street, from Carfax to St. Mary’s church, in St. 
Aldate’s Street, from Carfax to just below the town hall, in the east end of Queen Street, 
and in the whole of Cornmarket Street; all those streets were fairly wide. Although corn 

was sold in Cornmarket Street, that name did not replace Northgate Street until a roofed 
market-place was built in the street in 1536. 

Shoe Making
The position of the site in the medieval Cordwainery, predominantly the shoemakers 
quarter, was amply con�rmed. Preserved in the cess-pit sludge was a small section of 
wattle and daub and much leatherwork, together with sherds of tripod-pitchers and 

cooking-pots of c. 1120-1220.

Many shoes, a few complete, most fragmentary, and all badly worn and patched and 
clearly discarded by the shoemaker as beyond repair, were found together with scraps 
and cuttings. The shoes form a group which can be compared with the contemporary 
shoes from the series at Lund in Sweden. The majority are round-ended, but a few are 
slightly pointed; both kinds are unlike either the much commoner pointed shoe of the 

15th century or the blunt-toed shoe of the 16th century.

In 1319 a con�rmation charter added that none but guild members should work in the 
town or its suburbs as cordwainers or corvisers, nor cut Spanish, tanned, or curried 

leather, nor sell new work. In the Middle Ages the cordwainers' shops were grouped 
chie�y in North Gate Street (later Cornmarket Street), and the craft's association with that 

area was maintained when, in 1592, with the help of loans and gifts, the company 
bought the lease of the house next to Bocardo, building a new house there in 1595–6. 
The Bocardo, a prison once located near the church of St Michael at the North Gate on 
Cornmarket Street until 1771. Its origins were medieval, and its most famous prisoners 

were the Protestant Oxford martyrs; Thomas Cranmer, Hugh Latimer and Nicholas Ridley 
in 1555. Other prisoners included a number of Quakers, like Elizabeth Fletcher, among 

the �rst preachers of the Friends to come to Oxford in 1654.

The house, known as Bocardo House and Shoemakers' Hall, was usually sub-let to the 
keeper of the prison until the lease was sold in 1633. The company may have continued 
to use the building, for the lessees until 1692 were company members, but by the later 

17th century it used the town hall or an inn. In 1690–1 a corporate seal of unknown 
design was replaced by an oval, silver matrix depicting the cordwainers' arms 

(argent, a chevron sable between three goats heads erased). 

Description of Shoes Illustrated above from the archaeological excavations 1954-57 
1. Man’s shoe, size 41/2 , right foot, soled and heeled
2. Man’s shoe, size 6, right foot 
3. Sole of man’s shoe, size 6, upside down to show stitches of soling and heeling
4. Woman’s shoe, size 2, right foot, soled and heeled, upper shown upside down
5. Sole of woman’s shoe, size 3, narrow at instep and heel
6. Front half of woman’s shoe, size 4, with welt, soled
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Spinning and Weaving
Spindle whorls of pottery and of bone of common types came from Late Saxon deposits 

found during the archaeological excavations 1954-57 are made from the great trochanter 
of a femur (probably of an ox), a very common type from the Iron Age onwards.

Large bun-shaped loom-weights of well-known later Saxon type came from an earlier 
12th century found deposits. These are clay with much gravel and weigh about 2-3 lbs. 

By the shape of the hole these were simply made up round the thumb from a lump of clay. 
From the �lling of the Late Saxon cellar came a well-polished double pointed bone 

implement, of a type now identi�ed as a thread-picker, and found on pagan Saxon sites.

It is evident that cloth was being made on the west side of Cornmarket in the 11th and 
perhaps early 12th centuries. Bun-shaped loom-weights of this type are usually found in 
later Saxon contexts, and even the one in an early 12th century deposit is unusual. These 
weights were in use with vertical looms, which were apparently superseded by horizontal 

looms by the 13th century. On the west side of Cornmarket, just north of Carfax, lay the 
drapery, �rst recorded c. 1220; in 1349 the Cornmarket frontage was called the old drapery, 
and there were shops in a new drapery in Drapery Lane, which ran west from Cornmarket 
and turned north into Shoe Lane. North of the drapery was the cordwainery, recorded c. 

1245 and in 1388. On the east side of Cornmarket was a skinners' quarter, recorded in 1260, 
on the site of the Golden Cross, and further north, near Market Street, was a corvisery, 

recorded c. 1261 and in 1326, apparently identical with a cobblers' quarter of 1354.  
Lorimers' and furriers' quarters recorded c. 1225 and 1277 were also in Cornmarket, the 

former in St. Michael's parish, the latter in St. Martin's. 

Bone comb and polished bone thread-picker (F, H) and bone spindle-whorl (G)
A small double-sided comb; the teeth are missing but the traces of cuts on the 

binding-plates imply �ner teeth on one side than on the other. The plates are held with 
iron rivets. This type is known from Roman times onwards.

Burnt daub crossing wattle-marks (A), facetted chalk (B) and bun-shaped loom-weights 
of coarse baked clay (C, D, E)
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The decorative hoarding to be located on Queen Street, as part of the new Clarendon Quarter Development, aims to inform and celebrate the site’s unique social and retail heritage. The artwork relates to an archaeological study carried out at the Clarendon 
site in 1954-57 during a previous building development when several medieval artefacts were discovered relating to drapery and cordwainery (shoemaking). These, along with other medieval artisan trades, are considered to be key components to the early 
economic growth of the pre-University town of Oxford. The artwork imagery combines images of the original excavation plan from the above archaeological investigations, drawings of the �ndings, large-scale pictorial and photographic images relating to 
the drapery and cordwainery trades, plus informative text.

The 33mtr x 3mtr hoarding will have vinyl imagery adhered to ACM panels (3000x1500 format) mounted on the existing plywood hoarding. The existing 9No. lights, 4No camera and safety notices to be re-�tted at the same height. The installation of hoard-
ing will be a daytime operation with delivery of the panels via Shoe lane and through the development site. Security fencing to be used to protect the install operatives and passing public.

Existing Queen Street Hoarding
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